STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

02-08-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No: 2016-AP-1484 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM A. WISTH,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD K. MARTENS, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Trisha Stewart Martin State Bar No. 1016571

Stewart Law Offices P.O. Box 18243 Milwaukee, WI 53218 (414) 933-0067

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the contempt of court conviction violates Mr. Wisth's constitutional right to free speech?

Trial Court: Not answered/No.

2. Whether there is insufficient evidence to support the conviction for contempt of court?

Trial Court: No.

3. Whether the jury instruction on contempt of court was erroneous?

Trial Court: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Defendant-Appellant does not request oral argument or publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In a prior case, no. 2012CM647, Wisth was being tried, for resisting a peace officer and disorderly conduct. (1:1). He was representing himself. (1:1). On July 29, 2014, he attempted, improperly, to serve documents in order to have two witnesses appear at his trial the next day but this only resulted in new charges against him – case no. 14CF233. (95:4,20:21). Judge Malloy had denied his requests for an adjournment of the trial amongst other things. (99:166-67.) He also denied his requests for a lawyer. (99:167; 109:7).

Feeling frustrated with the system, and unhappy with Judge Malloy, he decided to exercise his First Amendment rights in protest. (99:165,169). Therefore, the next day, he went to the courthouse for his second day of trial with about 500 flyers he had printed at Kinkos and a cardboard sign. (99:138). After clearing it with the sheriff's office, he commenced his protest. (99:139,157). He sat on a bench outside the front entrance, (which was visible to the courthouse security station), with his sign and flyers, intending to hand out flyers to passersby. (99:150).

The flyers read:

"Beware, Beware. Do not trust Ozaukee County or Judge Malloy! If you are a criminal defendant: your rights will be taken away from you. 1. Do not request an attorney. 2. The judge will work in the DA's favor. 3. The Judge will work in the favor of the police. 4. You cannot plead guilty and get a fair jury trial in Ozaukee County. The Judge should not be a Judge. Do not trust Judge Malloy or the Ozaukee County Sheriffs Department."

(1:2; A-Ap. 103). The cardboard sign read:"Don't trust Judge Malloy or Ozaukee County Sheriff's Department! They are dishonest." (1:2; A-Ap. 103).

The very first passerby was a female who ignored him. (99:145). When a deputy came out a few minutes later, he accepted a flyer. (99:146). Thereafter, deputies came out, took away his flyers and sign and escorted him to Judge Malloy. (99:170). It so happened that the female passerby who ignored him was a juror. (99:146).

Judge Malloy questioned the juror and Mr. Wisth on the record. (99:171,179). Mr. Wisth stated his intent was to exercise his First Amendment rights, that he had first cleared his intent to protest outside the courthouse with the sheriff's office and that he did not know the female was a juror. (99:172). The colloquy between the juror and the judge showed she did not read the sign or take a flyer and was not influenced by anything Mr. Wisth presented. (109:14-15). Thereafter, the trial proceeded and concluded that day. (99:147).

On August 7, 2014, the instant action was filed, charging Mr. Wisth with Count 1 Communicating with Jurors and Count 2 Contempt of Court - Disobey Order. (1:1). Judge Malloy recused himself. The case was reassigned to the Judge Todd K. Martens. (9). The case proceeded to trial. The jury instruction, Wis JI-Criminal 2031 was modified, removing all reference to an order and adding all of the statutory terms in the disjunctive, as they appear in the contempt statute. (38; 99:193). The jury returned a verdict of acquittal on count 1 and a guilty for "contempt of court, as charged in the information" on count 2. (41; 99:243). Thereafter, he was sentenced on August 18, 2015, to 60 days in the Ozaukee County Jail with Huber together for "contempt of court, as charged in count two."(109:16).

In sentencing him, the trial court noted from Judge Malloy's transcript that the juror was not influenced and the trial was not affected but observed that "this was a case that in many, many, circumstances would never habe been charged. There would be other ways to deal with it." (109:14). It noted that free speech was subject to reasonable restrictions "and a reasonable restriction here was placed on the defendant by the Judge, which is not to have any contact with the jurors. I'm not sure what the motivations are for Mr. Wisth's apparently pointless challenges to authority, maybe he just likes to poke the bear. I don't know." (109:15). A Judgement of Conviction was entered on August 19, 2015 describing the offense as "Contempt of Court/Disobey Order". (48).

In response to Mr. Wisth's postconviction motion, (67), filed on or about April 28, 2016, the trial court ordered a response brief from the State and set a hearing date at which the defendant was to submit an oral reply, if any. The State filed a response brief. (69). A motion hearing proceeded on July 1, 2016 where, following an oral reply, the postconviction motion was denied. (101:3-6; 101:6-13, A-Ap. 102). Defendant-appellant appeals.

I THE CONVICTION MUST BE REVERSED BECAUSE THE CARDBOARD SIGN AND FLYERS DID NOT CONSTITUTE CONTEMPT AND FELL WITHIN THE PROTECTION OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO FREE SPEECH.

Whether speech is protected is a question of law, reviewed de novo. See, <u>Lounge Mgmt., Ltd. v. Town of</u> <u>Trenton</u>, 219 Wis. 2d 13, 19-20, 580 N.W.2d 156 (1998). Interpretation and application of statutes in determining whether the sign and flyer constitute contempt under the statute, presents a question of law which is also reviewed de novo. <u>Christensen v. Sullivan</u>, 2009 WI 87, ¶ 42, 320 Wis. 2d 76, 768 N.W.2d 798.

Under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution and Art. I, sec. 3 of the Wisconsin Constitution all citizens have a right to free speech. Art. I, sec. 3 provides:

> Every person may freely speak, write and publish his sentiments on all subjects, being responsible for the abuse of that right, and no laws shall be passed to restrain or abridge the liberty of speech or of the press. In all criminal prosecutions or indictments for libel, the truth may be given in evidence, and if it shall appear to the jury that the matter charged as libelous be true, and was published with good motives and for justifiable ends, the party shall be acquitted; and the jury shall have the right to determine the law and the fact.

It has been long established that by virtue of the first and second clauses of Art I, sec. 3, there is a right to free speech as to which the state may not interfere. Jacobs v. Major, 139 Wis. 2d 492, 504-505, 407 N.W.2d 832 (1987). "[I]t is state action that is restrained from interfering with the right to speech." Id.

The U.S. Constitution created a national government of limited and enumerated powers. <u>Jacobs</u>, <u>supra</u> at 506. Thus, all of its powers are only those which have been delegated to it. Id. at 506. By contrast, a state constitution typically creates a state government with general powers and establishes a Declaration of Rights whereby the powers possessed by the state are only those powers not denied/restrained by the Declaration of Rights. Id., at 507. Therefore, the state legislature may only "legislate laws not forbidden by the state constitution." Id.

> A The Cardboard Sign and Flyers are protected speech under United States and Wisconsin constitutions

Here, Mr. Wisth was charged with contempt of court after he set forth his sentiments about a judge, the Ozaukee Sheriff Department and Ozaukee County on a cardboard sign and on flyers and displayed them outside the courthouse. (1:2; A-Ap. 103).

In State ex rel. Attorney Genl. v. Circuit Court of Eau Claire City, 97 Wis. 1, 72 N.W. 193, (1897), a lawyer and newspaper editor were convicted of criminal contempt of court after they published, circulated and distributed newspaper articles accusing a sitting judge, who was up for re-election, of bias and corruption in past trials. The articles which were several columns in length, charged the judge with "being extravagant in the management of the court, and with being partial and unfair in respect to his official conduct in the trial of causes, and with being influenced by corrupt motives." Id. at 193. None of the cases referred to in the article were then pending or on trial. Id.

The criminal charge against them alleged that the judge had a case actively in trial with a panel of jurors, that the articles were distributed to residents of the state and read by officers of the court and members of the jury. <u>Eau Claire</u> <u>Cnty.</u>, 72 N.W. at 195. It was of particular note that the content of the articles did not refer to a pending case or trial but rather, the judge's general character and his acts in past cases. Id. Also, the publications did not refer to pending litigation nor were they circulated in the presence of the court. Id.

A common law definition of criminal contempt was

"any act which tends either to obstruct the course of justice or to prejudice the trial in any action or proceeding then pending in court." Id. at 194. It has always been recognized that courts possess inherent power to punish such acts. Id. (citations omitted). Although this inherent power, resembling despotic power, "may be regulated, and the manner of its exercise prescribed, by statute, but certainly it cannot be entirely taken away, nor can its efficiency be so impaired or abridged as to leave the court without power to compel the due respect and obedience which is essential to preserve its character as a judicial tribunal." Id. (citations omitted.). It is a power arising from and based upon necessity. Id. at 195. However, "due regard for the liberty of the citizen imperatively requires that its limits be carefully guarded so that they be not overstepped." Id. Since it is a power of necessity, "it must be measured and limited by the necessity which calls it into existence." Id.

The court was allegedly in session with a jury trial when the articles were circulated in the city of Eau Claire, were distributed to various residents in this state, were distributed and delivered to officers "'of said court, and to persons summoned as jurors in said court,' and 'were read by the officers and jurors so in attendance in said court.'" Id., at 195. The court noted, the content of the articles did not refer to cases pending or on trial, but rather, "contained only strictures upon the general character of the judge, and his acts in former cases." Id., at 195. There was no allegation that the articles were circulated in the immediate presence of the court. Id.

A review of case law across jurisdictions showed that the majority of cases found criminal contempt if the publication actually referred to an action or proceeding which was then pending and undecided. Id. at 195 (citations omitted.). Where, however, the publication pertained to actions past and ended, the opinions were marked by contrariness and confusion. Id. at 195. Some found contempt, reasoning that the publications "tend to diminish the respect due to the court in the trial of future causes and thus impair its usefulness." Id. at 195. Some found such publications did not constitute contempt. Id. Some found that even if the publication was punishable as a constructive contempt at common law, that the legislature had properly limited the power by statute. Id. Then there were still other cases holding such publications did not constitute contempt under our form of government and that punishment "would be a serious invasion of the great constitutional guaranties of freedom of speech and of the press." Id.(citations omitted.).

Only a single unpublished case could be found in this state. Id. In that case the defendants published an article accusing a grand jury and presiding judge of corruption and malice in regard to an indictment against school land commissioners. They were found in contempt and fined. The judgment was reversed upon a holding that the publication did not constitute contempt. Id., at 196.

Although the weight of the case, being that it was unpublished case, was open to debate, the court agreed with its holding that newspaper comments on cases finally decided prior to the publication cannot constitute criminal contempt. Id. It reasoned that:

> "Important as it is that courts should perform their grave public duties unimpeded and unprejudiced by illegitimate influences, there are other rights guarantied to all citizens by our constitution and form of government, either expressly or impliedly, which are fully as important, and which must be guarded with an equally jealous care. These rights are the right of free speech and of free publication of the citizen's sentiments 'on all subjects.""

Id.

Further, it continued, as regards the publications, the use of such power was not a necessity. The subject of the publications was a judge who was up for re-election and the claim was that because he was a judge and was holding court at the time of the "unfavorable criticism" there should be punishment for contempt. Id., at 196. Followed to its conclusion, the court noted, the result would be that:

"all unfavorable criticism of a sitting judge's past official

action can be at once stopped by the judge himself, or, if not stopped, can be punished by immediate imprisonment. If there can be any more effectual way to gag the press, and subvert freedom of speech, we do not know where to find it.

Id. at 196. Thus, as to the necessity of such a power as against the constitutionally guaranteed rights of the citizen to publish opinions concerning even a judge, the court concluded "no such power as this is necessary for the due administration of justice." Id. Any common law to the contrary has never, the court noted, been adopted. Id. Furthermore, "so extreme a power is inconsistent with and would materially impair, the constitutional rights of free speech and free press." Id.

In addition, the court found the charge to be barred under the statute. The criminal contempt statute under which the charge was brought, defined criminal contempts and divided them into seven classes. Id. Only two of the classes were possibly pertinent, namely: "(1) Disorderly, contemptuous, or insolent behavior committed during its sittings, in its immediate view and presence, and directly tending to interrupt its proceedings, or to impair the respect due its authority."" "(6) The publication of a false or grossly inaccurate report or copy of its proceedings; but no court can punish as a contempt the publication of true, full, and fair reports of any trial, argument, proceedings or decisions had in such court."" Id.

The court found the publication was not subject to the first section since that section required the punishable act to have occurred in the court's presence and there had been no such allegation. Id. There was not even an allegation "that the publication had been circulated in the court room." Id. Subparagraph 6 did not apply either because to the extent the publication itself could be considered a report, still there was no allegation that it was false or grossly inaccurate. Id. Thus, the court concluded no contempt was stated and, therefore, punishment for contempt exceeded the court's jurisdiction. Id.

Here, although there are assertions against the sheriff's department and the county as well, it is only the speech pertaining to the judge which the State seeks to punish. According to the State, in closing argument, it is the "words" in Mr. Wisth's sign and flyer which show "disrespect to the authority of the judge" (99:212). These "words with their clear intent, their clear meaning, there is no other way to construe it." Id.

It is undisputed in the record, however, that the signs were not displayed in the judge's presence or distributed in the courtroom. Mr. Wisth was exercising his First Amendment rights in protest of perceived unfairness and feelings of frustration in regard to the judge, the sheriffs and the county. (99:172). The one juror who passed his display outside the courthouse did not take a flyer and did not read the sign. (99:101,102). It did not affect the juror or the trial. (109:14-15). Nothing in the proclamations makes reference to Mr. Wisth's pending trial or any court case. There was no constructive contempt here.

The articles in Eau Claire Cnty., 72 N.W. at 193, spanned several newspaper columns and contained assertions pertaining to the judge's extravagant management of his court, partiality in trials, unfairness in trials, being influenced by corrupt motives. Officers of the court and sitting jurors read the articles. In reviewing the case, the Supreme Court found it significant that the article was not distributed in the court's presence and did not reference a case actually pending. It found that the article did not constitute a constructive contempt of court because although it is important that courts be able to perform their duties without prejudicial or illegitimate impediments, the constitutional right of a citizen to express "sentiments 'on all subjects" was to be "guarded with an equally jealous care." Id. at 196. Furthermore, the court found, use of the contempt power to punish critical or unfavorable speech made outside the court's presence subverts the freedom of speech and was not "necessary for the due administration of justice." Id. at 196.

Under the Wisconsin and United States constitutions

as well as the holding in Eau Claire Cnty., the content of the cardboard sign and flyers was protected speech and cannot constitute a constructive criminal contempt. Freedom of speech "on all subjects" is a constitutional right, entitled to protection equal to that accorded the courts' contempt power. Eau Claire Cnty., supra. Also see, Craig v. Harney, 331 U.S. 367, 376 (1947)("a judge may not hold in contempt one who 'ventures to publish anything that tends to make him unpopular or to belittle him....")(citation omitted.). Further, "injury to the reputation of judges or the institutional reputation of courts is not sufficient to justify 'repressing speech that would otherwise be free."" Landmark Communications, Inc. v. Virginia, 435 U.S. 829, 829 (1978)(citation omitted.). The contempt power simply is not necessary for the due administration of justice where the citizen's speech amounts to criticism of the judge outside the courtroom. Eau Claire Cnty., supra.. Clearly, Mr. Wisth's sign and flyer contained speech protected by the First Amendment and Art. 1, sec. 3 of the Wisconsin constitution. Therefore, the prosecution for contempt arising from the words in such speech was barred.

> B The criminal complaint and information failed to state a contempt offense and therefore punishment for contempt was in excess of the court's jurisdiction.

In Wisconsin, the contempt power is subject to legislative regulation. "[W]henever a statute prescribes the procedure in a prosecution for contempt or limits the penalty, the statute controls." <u>State ex rel. Laning v. Lonsdale</u>, 48 Wis. 348, 367, 4 N.W. 390 (1880); also see, <u>Douglas County</u> <u>v. Edwards</u>, 137 Wis. 2d 65, 87-88, 403 N.W.2d 438 (1987).

Mr. Wisth was charged with contempt of court disobey order in violation of Wis. Stats. s. 785.01(1)(b). Both the criminal complaint and information charged:

"Count 2 Contempt of Court - Disobey Order

The above-named defendant on or about Wednesday, July

30, 2014, in the City of Port Washington, Ozaukee County, Wisconsin, did intentionally disobey, resist, or obstruct the authority, process, or order of the court, contrary to sec. 785.01(1)(b), 785.04(2)(a) Wis. Stats., a Misdemeanor, and upon conviction may be fined not more than Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000), or imprisonment in the county jail for not more than one (1) year, or both."

(19:1; 1:1). It is alleged in the complaint that Mr. Wisth had been admitted to bail, in the underlying case, with a condition that he not commit any crimes. (1:1). Quoting the sign and flyer, as well as incorporating them as exhibits, the complaint alleges that Mr. Wisth attempted to give a flyer to a juror outside the courthouse. (1:2).

The charged statute provides:

"785.01 Definitions. In this chapter:

(1) "Contempt of court" means intentional:

(a) Misconduct in the presence of the court which interferes with a court proceeding or with the administration of justice, or which impairs the respect due the court;

(b) Disobedience, resistance or obstruction of the authority, process or order of a court;

(bm) Violation of any provision of s. 767.117(1);

(c) Refusal as a witness to appear, be sworn or answer a question; or

(d) Refusal to produce a record, document or other object.

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