STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

03-27-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Appeal Case No. 2016AP001484 CR

Trial Case No. 2014CF000220

WILLIAM A. WISTH,

Defendant – Appellant

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POST CONVICTOIN RELIEF ENTERED IN THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,

HONORABLE TODD K. MARTENS, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Respectfully submitted,

Adam Y. Gerol
Ozaukee County District Attorney
State Bar No. 1012502
1201 South Spring Street
Port Washington, WI 53074
(262) 284-8380

Attorney for Plaintiff - Respondent

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

In <u>Turney v. Pugh</u>, 400 F.3d 1197 (9th Circuit, 2005), a man approached members of a jury venire and told them to call the toll free number of the "Fully Informed Jury Association", a jury nullification enterprise. One of the jurors did, the case ended in hung jury, and the man was later charged with criminal conduct. <u>Turney</u> discussed the 'clear and present danger' test beginning with <u>Bridges</u>,, but <u>Turney</u> distinguished these from cases involving speech to jurors about pending cases. "In a criminal case, any private communication, contact, or tampering directly or indirectly, with a juror during a trial about the matter pending before the jury is, for obvious reasons, deemed presumptively prejudicial" unless made pursuant to court rules or other instructions. <u>Turney</u> at 1202; Citing <u>Remmer v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 347 U.S. 227, 229 (1954). Turney further stated:

Even in the strongly speech-protective decisions of the Bridges-Wood line, the Court was careful to distinguish the publications it deemed protected under the First Amendment from speech aimed at improperly influencing jurors. As the Court observed in Bridges:" The very word `trial' connotes decisions on the evidence and arguments properly advanced in open court. Legal trials are not like elections, to be won through the use of the meeting-hall, the radio, and the newspaper." ...

Turney at 1202.

No 'safe harbor' for pro se litigants.

In <u>U.S. v. Scarfo</u>, 263 F.3d 80 (3rd Circuit, 2001), a disqualified attorney made extrajudicial statements about a pending criminal case. There, the 3rd Circuit Court of Appeals observed:

... The Supreme Court "has held that the Constitution[does] not allow absolute freedom of

expression -- a freedom unrestricted by the duty to respect others needs fulfillment of which makes for the dignity and security of man." Id. (citing Schenck v. United States, 249 U.S. 47 (1918). Justice Holmes's famous "clear and present danger" test is the penultimate embodiment in First Amendment law of the principle that freedom of speech is critically important, but that "its exercise must be compatible with the preservation of other freedoms essential to a democracy and guaranteed by our Constitution." Pennekamp, 328 U.S. at 353 (Frankfurter, J. concurring).

Scafo, 90-91. Here, the conduct and the message could have resulted in an ethics sanction for a licensed attorney. S.C.R 20:3.5(c); Office of Lawyer Regulation v. Sommers, 2012 WI 33, 339 Wis.2d 580, 811 N.W.2d 387. Behavior which would be subject to sanction if committed by a lawyer cannot be condoned when it's done by non-lawyer acting as his own attorney. Waushara County v. Graf, 166 Wis.2d 442, 480 N.W.2d 16 (1992). Pro se litigants must follow the same rules as attorneys. Farretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 834, n. 46 (1975). Acting as one's own attorney doesn't provide a license to manipulate court proceedings or engage in obstreperous or defiant behavior. Hamiel v. State, 92 Wis.2d 656, 673-74, 285 N.W.2d 639 (1979).

d. The defendant was correctly charged¹.

i. The Contempt power is not a creature of legislative authorization.

The defendant cites to <u>State ex rel. Laning v. Lonsdale</u>, 48 Wis. 348, 367, 4 N.W. 390 (1880) and <u>Douglas County v. Edwards</u>, 137 Wis.2d 65, 87-88, 403 N.W.2d 438 (1987)² for the proposition that the trial court was without jurisdiction to litigate this matter. Brief at 10. These cases don't support that contention.

<u>Lehman (Douglas County)</u> involved a trial court attempting to force Douglas County to pay for an attorney that had been appointed to act as stand-by counsel in a criminal case. While the trial court had used its contempt powers to compel the payment, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that this wasn't necessary. <u>Lehman</u> at 87. These costs were part of the trial court's operating budget, and no other proceeding or order was necessary to compel the county provide funding. <u>Ibid</u>. However, in dicta, the Court held that contempt powers do not grow out of legislative enactments:

The contempt power does not arise from the statute: "It is well settled beyond any question in Wisconsin that all courts have an inherent power to hold in contempt those who disobey the court's lawful orders. This power exists independently of statute...." In re Hon.

¹ The arguments in the defendant's brief from pages 10-12 are difficult to decipher. The State has attempted to meet these points as best as possible so as to avoid any claim of concession. <u>Hoffman v. Economy Preferred Ins. Co.</u>, 2000 WI App 22, ¶9, 232 Wis. 2d 53, 606 N.W.2d 590 (Ct. App. 1999).

² Also cited as <u>Contempt in State v. Lehman</u>, or <u>State v. Lehman</u>, 137 Wis.2d 65, 403 N.W.2d 438 (1987).

<u>Charles E. Kading, 70 Wis.2d 508, 543b, 235 N.W.2d 409 (1975)</u>. Despite the fact that the power exits independently of statute, this court ruled, over one-hundred years ago, that when the procedures and penalties for contempt are prescribed by statute, the statute controls. <u>State ex rel. Lanning v. Lonsdale, 48 Wis. 348, 367, 4 N.W. 390 (1880)</u>. This case has not been overruled, and we see no reason to do so in the present case.

<u>Lehman</u> at 87-88.

ii. Language used in the information.

The defendant attacks the choice of language in the charging document. Brief at 11. The information charged the defendant with violating Wis. Stats. § 785.01 (1)(b) which states:

785.01 (1) "Contempt of court" means intentional:...

(b) Disobedience, resistance or obstruction of the authority, process or order of a court;

The information used in this case was sufficiently detailed and placed the defendant on notice of the charges being brought against him, as well as the available penalty. State v. Elverman, 2015 WI App 91, ¶¶ 16-18, 367 Wis. 2d 126, 876 N.W.2d 511. While it was not defective, any defect in the form of an information would not render the document invalid so long as that defect did not prejudice the defendant. Wis. Stat. § 971.26. Here, the defendant has not alleged any prejudice, and none is evident from the record. The Defendant clearly knew what he was being charged with and what the penalties where.

The defendant also discusses the allegations as stated in the criminal complaint. Brief at 11. A criminal complaint is no longer the charging document after arraignment.

iii. Failure to state an offense.

While a violation of Wis. Stats. § 785.01, criminal contempt, may not technically be a crime, it is an offense for which someone may be punished. . State v. Carpenter, 179 Wis.2d 838, 842, 508 N.W.2d 69 (Ct. App. 1993); See also Bloom v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 194 (1968). Champlain v. State, 53 Wis.2d 751, 754, 193 N.W.2d 868 (1972), referenced by the defendant, is inapplicable. In Champlain, the State failed to include a necessary element of the crime in its information which essentially rendered it a nullity. That simply didn't happen here. Further, the holding in Champlain has subsequently been modified. State v. Petrone, 161 Wis.2d 530, 557-8, 468 N.W.2d 676 (1991). An information which lacks a necessary element will still be sufficient so long as it cites to the correct statute. Ibid. Further, the defendant's own contention is that the information contained too many charging alternatives, as opposed to not enough. Brief at 11-12.

iv. Disjunctive and duplicitous pleading.

The defendant argues that because the State didn't specify which of the alternatives under Wis. Stats. § 785.01(1)(b) it was relying on, the jury verdict lacked unanimity. Brief at 11-12. This objection was not made at trial, nor in any post-conviction proceeding. (R.67) The trial court was never asked to either develop or decide this issue. A challenge to duplicity is waived unless it is raised in the

trial court. <u>State v. Lomagro</u>, 113 Wis. 2d 582, 590, n.3, 335 N.W.2d 583 (1983).

That said, there was no error in the charging document. Duplicity is defined as the joining in a single count, two or more separate offenses as one charge. State v. Galarowicz, 2013 WI App 13, ¶19, n.2, 345 Wis.2d 848, 826 N.W.2d 123. The defendant claims that the charging document was flawed because it used disjunctive language. Brief at 11-12. However, the State may charge, and a jury may be instructed using disjunctive language. State v. Cheers, 102 Wis.2d 367, 401-6, 306 N.W.2d 676 (1981).

<u>Cheers</u> involved an armed robbery charge, a crime which has several different modes of commission. The Court held that it was unnecessary for the jury to agree on which specific methods of commission was used, so long as they agreed on the ultimate issue presented – was force used. <u>Cheers</u> at 401-2.

State v. Koeppen, 2000 WI App 121, ¶13, 16, 237
Wis. 2d 418, 614 N.W.2d 530 described the two-step process
to applied when these types of unanimity claims are brought.
Koeppen, ¶16. First, a court must determine whether a
statute creates one offense with multiple modes of
commission, or whether the statute creates multiple offenses
with distinct crimes recited. Ibid. Referencing State v. Briggs,
214 Wis. 2d 281, 289, 571 N.W.2d 881 (Ct. App. 1997).
Applying this process requires ascertaining the legislature's
intent. Statutory construction begins with the plain meaning
of the statute. State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cty.,
2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110.
Statutory intent involves looking at four factors; First, the
language of the statute; Second, the legislative history and

context of the statute; Third, the nature of the proscribed conduct; and, Fourth, the appropriateness of multiple punishment for the conduct." <u>Id</u> at ¶17; Citing <u>Manson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 101 Wis. 2d 413, 422, 304 N.W.2d 729 (1981).

Here, the legislature recites one offense with alternative means of commission. None of the alternatives listed -- disobedience, resistance or obstruction of the authority, process or order of a court – is mutually exclusive. They all share conceptual similarity. See generally <u>Cheers</u>, at 400.

Because the evidence may demonstrate situations where the line between a statute's alternative modes of commission is not clear, the jury does not have to split hairs over nomenclature and agree on the precise term for the conduct; instead, it must agree on the factual theory or concept that makes the defendant liable for the crime. *See State v. Baldwin*, 101 Wis. 2d 441, 450, 304 N.W.2d 742 (1981).

<u>Koeppen</u>, ¶18. The concept behind each of these alternative methods of committing contempt is the same – that the defendant <u>did an act</u> with the purpose of interfering with a trial court's ability to conduct its business.

Here, there was only one continuous act, albeit using a sign and handbills. The State has discretion to couple separately chargeable offenses into one count as long as the offenses were committed "by the same person at substantially the same time and relating to one continued transaction." See State v. Lomagro, 113 Wis.2d 582, 587–89, 335 N.W.2d 583 (1983).

v. Failure to include facts in the pleading.

The defendant appears to attack the sufficiency of the criminal complaint. Brief at 12. Here, the defendant was charged with a felony and a misdemeanor, but only convicted of the misdemeanor. Nonetheless, when a defendant is charged with a felony, the charging document is the information. Wis. Stats. § 971.01, Stats.; Day v. State, 52 Wis.2d 122, 124-25, 187 N.W.2d 790, 791 (1971). An information ordinarily does not recite facts. Wis. Stats. § 971.03. This information was filed after a preliminary hearing was held on December 12, 2014 for the underlying case, as well as a related case where the defendant was charged with Simulating Legal Process. (R.95)

3. Sufficiency of the evidence.

An appellate court may not reverse a conviction unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so insufficient in probative value and force that it can be said as a matter of law that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 501, 451N.W.2d 752 (1990). If the record supports more than one inference, an appellate court must accept and follow the inference drawn by the trier of fact, unless the evidence on which that inference is based is incredible as a matter of law." Id. at 506-07. An appellate court need only decide whether the theory of guilt, accepted by the trier of fact, is supported by sufficient evidence. Id. at 508.

The defendant's conduct in this case was clearly intended to disrupt court proceedings against him. He

engaged in this behavior in front of the only public entrance to the courthouse, in view of the jury assembly room. He tried to hand his materials to a juror. A reasonable inference from these facts is that his goal was to disrupt the court proceedings against him.

4. Sufficiency of the jury instructions.

The defense did not object to the instructions as given. (R.99:10, 182) Failure to object to an instruction deprives the trial court of the ability to make a record, improve the proposed instructions and cure any possible error. See generally, <u>State v. Paulson</u>, 106 Wis.2d 96, 315 N.W.2d 350 (1982).

The test to be applied where a party claims on appeal that a jury instruction should be reviewed, in spite of a waiver of objections, is whether the error is so plain or fundamental as to affect the defendant's substantial rights. State v. Jorgensen, 2008 WI 60, ¶ 21, 310 Wis.2d 138, 153–154, 754 N.W.2d 77, 84–85; Paulson at 105;

There is no pattern jury instruction for the offense charged. The defendant was charged with violating Wis. Stats. § 785.01(1)(b). The jury was given the following instruction:

Contempt of court as defined in sec. 785.01(1)(b) of the Wisconsin Statutes, is committed by one who intentionally acts in disobedience, resistance or obstruction of the authority, process or order of a circuit court.

Before you may find the defendant guilty of this offense, the State must prove by evidence which satisfies you beyond a reasonable doubt that the following three elements were present.

- 1. William A. Wisth was a defendant in an action pending before a circuit court.
- 2. William A. Wisth did an act in disobedience, resistance or obstruction of the authority, process or order of that court.
- The defendant did this act intentionally.
 "Intentionally" means that the defendant acted
 with the intent to disobey, resist or obstruct the
 authority, process or order of that court and
 acted with that purpose.

You cannot look into a person's mind to find intent and knowledge. Intent and knowledge must be found, if found at all, from the defendant's acts, words, and statements, if any, and from all the facts and circumstances in this case bearing upon intent and knowledge.

If you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that all three elements of this offense have been proved, you should find the defendant guilty.

If you are not so satisfied, you must find the defendant not guilty.

The purpose of a jury instruction is to fully and fairly inform the jury of the applicable law to be applied to the case. State v. Hubbard, 2008 WI 92, 313 Wis.2d 1, 752 N.W.2d 839. (Citations omitted.) The trial court has broad discretion when giving requested jury instructions. State v. Coleman, 206 Wis.2d 199, 212, 556 N.W.2d 701 (1996); State v. Vick, 104 Wis.2d 678, 690, 312 N.W.2d 489 (1981). Instructions should assist the jury in performing a reasonable analysis of the evidence. Id.

The defendant continues to argue that punitive contempt can only occur where there is a violation of an

actual court order. Brief at 15. Wis. Stats. § 785.01 is not so restrictive. While this may be the type of conduct that Wis. JI-Criminal 2031, Contempt of Court was drafted for, the inclusion or non-inclusion of a crime in the list of pattern jury instructions is irrelevant. There simply isn't a pattern jury instruction for every offense.

However, in retrospect, the State does believe there was an error in the instructions as given, but not an error that prejudiced the defendant. Jury instruction errors are subject to aharmless error analysis. State v. Beamon, 2013 WI 47, ¶24, 347 Wis.2d 559, 830 N.W.2d 681. A violation of Wis. Stats. § 785.01(1)(b) does not require an offender to have been 'a defendant in an action pending before a court.' Conceivably, any person committing the last two elements of the instruction given here could be convicted of this offense.

5. Conclusion

For the above stated reasons the State of Wisconsin prays that the appeal of the Defendant be denied and the judgment of the lower court be upheld.